Page 1 of 27

FILED 04-22-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2023AP2192-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

DANIEL J. REJHOLEC,

Defendant-Respondent.

STATE'S APPEAL FROM AN ORDER SUPPRESSING EVIDENCE ENTERED IN SHEBOYGAN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE REBECCA L. PERSICK, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT AND APPENDIX

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

#### INTRODUCTION

Defendant-Respondent Daniel J. Rejholec pleaded no contest to repeated sexual assault of the same child. At sentencing, the court asked Rejholec if he wished to make a statement. Rejholec exercised his statutory right to allocution and, for the first time, took responsibility for the assaults. "It's hard for me to understand why I did this," he said. The court imposed sentence and entered judgment.

Rejholec appealed, and this Court reversed Rejholec's conviction, concluding that inculpatory statements Rejholec made in a custodial interview were obtained in violation of *Miranda*. The case was returned to the circuit court, and Rejholec was allowed to withdraw his guilty plea.

Rejholec subsequently filed a motion to prohibit the State from introducing Rejholec's allocution statements at trial. The court granted the motion, concluding, variously, that admission of such statements was barred by statute and as an illegal fruit of the custodial interview, and that admission of the statements would be a miscarriage of justice.

The circuit court erred in suppressing Rejholec's allocution statements. In *Greve*,<sup>2</sup> the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that, following withdrawal of a guilty or no-contest plea, a defendant's admissions contained in a defense-prepared sentencing memorandum were admissible at trial. Such statements, the supreme court determined, were voluntary and their admission was not barred by statute or constitutional principles. Likewise, Rejholec's allocution statements were voluntary, and no constitutional provision, statute, or other authority prohibits the introduction of his statements in a new proceeding. Finally, none of the grounds

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

 $<sup>^2</sup>$   $State\ v.\ Greve,\ 2004\ WI\ 69,\ 272\ Wis.\ 2d\ 444,\ 681\ N.W.2d\ 479.$ 

on which the circuit court suppressed the statements has merit. Accordingly, the suppression order should be reversed.

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

Following withdrawal of a guilty or no-contest plea after sentencing, does any relevant law prohibit the introduction at trial of a defendant's voluntary allocution statements?

The circuit court answered yes.

This Court should answer no.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Court's opinion may merit publication. While the Wisconsin Supreme Court's decision in *Greve* provides guidance here, no Wisconsin case has squarely addressed whether, following the defendant's withdrawal of a guilty or no-contest plea, the State may introduce at trial the defendant's allocution statements made at the original sentencing.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2017, the State charged Daniel Rejholec in an amended complaint and amended information with repeated sexual assault of a child, exposing intimate parts, and exposing a child to harmful material for serially assaulting and otherwise harming Natalie,<sup>3</sup> the 14-year-old daughter of his girlfriend. (R. 11:1–2; 30:1–2.) Natalie has a cognitive impairment and "function[ed] at about half her age" at the time of the offenses. (R. 11:2.) She disclosed Rejholec's offenses to her father, who contacted police. (R. 11:2.)

During a custodial police interview, Rejholec admitted he had had sexual contact with Natalie on several occasions.

\_

 $<sup>^{\</sup>scriptscriptstyle 3}$  Natalie is a pseudonym. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.86(4).

(R. 11:3.) This included "her touching his penis, him touching her vagina, her putting his penis in her mouth, and him licking her vagina." (R. 11:3.) He also admitted exposing Natalie to depictions of nudity on his computer.<sup>4</sup> (R. 11:3.)

Rejholec moved to suppress his statements to law enforcement. (R. 37:1.) Rejholec noted that the detective advised him of his *Miranda* rights orally and in writing, and Rejholec signed a form acknowledging the waiver of his rights. (R. 37:2.) But Rejholec argued that "the tactics used by [the detective] during the interrogation were coercive, resulting in Mr. Rejholec's statements being involuntary." (R. 37:2.) The circuit court disagreed, denying the motion after viewing the recording of the interrogation and holding an evidentiary hearing. (R. 83:1–46; 86:2–5.)

In April 2018, Rejholec pleaded no contest to the count of repeated sexual assault of a child. (R. 62:1–2.) In exchange, the State agreed to dismiss the other counts and recommend a sentence of 15 years of initial confinement and 10 years of extended supervision. (R. 62:2.)

At the sentencing hearing, the State made the promised recommendation, arguing that a 25-year sentence was appropriate because of the gravity of Rejholec's offense, repeated sexual abuse of a cognitively disabled 14-year-old. The State also noted that Rejholec had consistently blamed the child for the assaults.<sup>5</sup> (R. 89:3–17, A-App. 18–32.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Rejholec told police he destroyed his computer a week or two before the custodial interview. (R. 11:3.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In his pre-sentencing interview with the PSI author, Rejholec repeated his statements to law enforcement that the 14-year-old cognitively disabled victim "c[a]me on to him" and then blackmailed him into continuing to have sexual contact with her by threatening to tell her mother if he stopped. (R. 89:12–13, 23–24, A-App. 27–28, 38–39.) These statements are inadmissible in new proceedings under *State v. Crowell*, 149 Wis. 2d 859, 861, 440

Defense counsel noted that Rejholec had no prior criminal record, but acknowledged, "This is a prison case," and requested five years of initial confinement. (R. 89:18–21, A-App. 33–36.)

Page 9 of 27

Addressing the defendant, the court said: "Mr. Rejholec, you're not required to, but is there anything you want to say before I impose a sentence?" (R. 89:21, A-App. 36.) Rejholec elected to speak, and he said that he was "the adult" and so he "shouldn't have allowed this to happened," he "need[ed] to be held accountable," and he would "accept any help . . . so I can understand why I did this":

I would like to -- everyone to know that I'm truly sorry for what happened between [Natalie] and I. I know that I'm the adult, and I now -- I understand that I should have, shouldn't have allowed this to happen. This does not take away at all my responsibility for what I did to [Natalie] and that I will fully understand I need to be held accountable and punished.

I also want the judge to consider that I went 53 years of my life and always made good decisions until this. I believe that I'm a good person, and you can rest assured that nothing like this has ever happened before.

I want the judge to know I will accept any help or counseling so I can understand why I did this. I've never had any sort of sexual attraction to children.

(R. 89:21, A-App. 36.)

Rejholec concluded: "It's hard for me to understand why I did this." (R. 89:21, A-App. 36.)

The court sentenced Rejholec to 12 years of initial confinement and 10 years of extended supervision. (R. 89:25, A-App. 40.) The court noted the gravity of Rejholec's repeated

N.W.2d 352 (1989) (a defendant's statements in a court-ordered PSI following a guilty plea that is subsequently withdrawn may not be used at trial).

Case 2023AP002192 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-22-2024 Page 10 of 27

assaults, the need to protect the public from his predation, and Rejholec's need for sex offender treatment. (R. 89:22–27, A-App. 37–42.)

Rejholec appealed his conviction, arguing that the circuit court erred in denying his motion to suppress his custodial admissions. (R. 140:12, 17.) This Court reversed in an opinion recommended for publication. *State v. Rejholec*, 2021 WI App 45, 398 Wis. 2d 729, 963 N.W.2d 121. (R. 140:1–23.) The Court agreed with the circuit court's conclusion that the detective's tactics were not coercive and did not render his statements involuntary. (R. 140:12–16.)

But it concluded that certain misrepresentations the detective made during the interview regarding Rejholec's constitutional rights undermined the substance of *Miranda* warnings and rendered Rejholec's *Miranda* waiver invalid. (R. 140:17–21.) Specifically, the court concluded that the detective violated *Miranda* when he suggested to Rejholec that, if he didn't talk to police before getting a lawyer, "You're not going to get a chance to tell your story. So the jury is never going to hear your side of the story." (R. 140:18–19.) The Court concluded that this statement "impermissibly suggested to Rejholec that if he exercised his right to silence and obtained a lawyer that Rejholec would not get the chance to tell his story to the jury." (R. 140:18.)

On remand, Rejholec filed a motion to withdraw his nocontest plea. (R. 145:1–8.) Pursuant to the court of appeals' decision and order, the circuit court vacated Rejholec's judgment of conviction and granted his plea withdrawal motion. (R. 161:1.) As a result, Rejholec again faces the three charges in the amended information of repeated sexual assault of a child, exposing intimate parts, and exposing a child to harmful material. (R. 30:1–2.)

In July 2023, Rejholec filed a motion to prohibit the State from introducing his statements made at his 2018

Case 2023AP002192 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-22-2024 Page 11 of 27

sentencing at his trial. (R. 223:1–5.) Rejholec recognized that no Wisconsin court has squarely addressed whether, following reversal of a conviction, the defendant's statements at sentencing may be used in the defendant's subsequent trial. (R. 223:2.) But he argued that use of a defendant's statements at a prior sentencing hearing were barred by Wis. Stat. § 904.10, which prohibits the use of a defendant's statements "in connection with" plea offers or a guilty or no contest plea that is later withdrawn. (R. 223:3.) He also argued that public policy considerations should preclude the introduction of Rejholec's sentencing statements. (R. 223:3–4.)

The circuit court, the Honorable Rebecca L. Persick, heard argument on the motion at a September 2023 hearing. (R. 234:1–12, A-App. 4–15.) The State opposed the motion, arguing that a defendant's voluntary statements at sentencing should be admissible in future proceedings under the rationale set forth in *State v. Greve*, 2004 WI 69, 272 Wis. 2d 444, 681 N.W.2d 479. (R. 234:2–4, A-App. 5–7.) There, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that a defendant's statements provided in a defense-prepared sentencing memorandum are admissible in subsequent proceedings. *Greve*, 272 Wis. 2d 444, ¶¶ 21–28. Defense counsel responded that *Greve* did not resolve the issue presented in this case. (R. 234:4–6, A-App. 7–9.)

Following argument, the circuit court issued an oral ruling granting the motion. (R. 234:8–10, A-App. 11–13.) The court gave three reasons for its ruling. First, the court agreed with Rejholec that the statute barring the use of statements connected to a withdrawn plea, Wis. Stat. § 904.10, also prohibited the use of Rejholec's sentencing statements in a new proceeding. (R. 234:9, A-App. 12.) Second, the court determined that the detective's misleading statements of law in the custodial interview "contaminated" Rejholec's subsequent statements at sentencing. (R. 234:9, A-App. 12.) Third, the court said that "it would be a miscarriage of justice

to allow those statements in." (R. 234:10, A-App. 13.) The court rejected the State's view that *Greve* provided guidance on the issue presented.

On October 11, 2023, the court issued a written order granting Rejholec's motion for the reasons set forth in the bench ruling. (R. 228:1, A-App. 3.) The State appeals under Wis. Stat. § 974.05(1)(d)2. (State may appeal from an order suppressing evidence).

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

A court's evidentiary determinations are generally reviewed for an erroneous exercise of the court's discretion. *Martindale v. Ripp*, 2001 WI 113, ¶ 29, 246 Wis. 2d 67, 629 N.W.2d 698. But when, as here, the evidentiary ruling turns on the determination of a legal issue, review is *de novo*. *State v. Felton*, 2012 WI App 114, ¶ 11, 344 Wis. 2d 483, 824 N.W.2d 871.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Following withdrawal of a guilty or no-contest plea after sentencing, the State may introduce at trial the defendant's voluntary allocution statements made at the original sentencing, and the circuit court erred in concluding otherwise.

#### A. Summary of argument

The circuit court erred in granting Rejholec's motion to suppress his 2018 allocution statements. The Wisconsin Supreme Court held in *Greve* that similar sentencing statements—a defendant's admissions in a defense-prepared sentencing memorandum—may be introduced in new proceedings. *Greve*, 272 Wis. 2d 444, ¶¶ 1–2, 14–28, 35–39. Rejholec's allocution statements were voluntary, and no constitutional provision, statute, or other authority prohibits their introduction in a subsequent trial. Finally, the circuit

court's reasons for suppressing the statements are unpersuasive and unsupported by law. The circuit court's order suppressing Rejholec's allocution statements should be reversed.

B. Wisconsin defendants have a statutory right to allocution, an allocution is a voluntary statement, and a defendant who elects to allocute necessarily waives the constitutional right to silence.

A Wisconsin defendant has a statutory right of allocution before the circuit court pronounces sentence. Wis. Stat. § 972.14(2). *Greve*, 272 Wis. 2d 444, ¶ 35. This right includes the right "to make a statement with respect to any matter relevant to the sentence."  $^6$  *Id.* (quoting Wis. Stat. § 972.14(2)). A court's failure to ask the defendant if he wishes to address the court at sentencing in violation of section 972.14(2) is not reversible error. *Nicholas v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 678, 682–83, 183 N.W.2d 8 (1971). There is a corresponding federal statutory right to allocution. *See* Fed. R. Crim. P. 32(i)(4)(A)(ii) ("Before imposing sentence, the court must . . . address the defendant personally in order to permit the defendant to speak or present any information to mitigate the sentence.").

The right to allocution under Wis. Stat. § 972.14(2) "allows" the defendant to speak at sentencing; it does not require him to do so. *See Greve*, 272 Wis. 2d 444, ¶ 35. An allocution statement is thus a voluntary statement. A defendant at sentencing retains the right to silence and against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "Before pronouncing sentence, the court shall ask the defendant why sentence should not be pronounced upon him or her and allow the district attorney, defense counsel and defendant an opportunity to make a statement with respect to any matter relevant to the sentence." Wis. Stat. § 972.14(2).

United States Constitution and article I, section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution. Fee State v. Alexander, 2015 WI 6, 24, 360 Wis. 2d 292, 858 N.W.2d 662 (constitutional right to silence continues through sentencing). A defendant who chooses to speak at sentencing necessarily waives the constitutional right to silence: "[I]n the expectation of leniency, [a defendant] may waive that right [against self-incrimination] and acknowledge his guilt and express his contrition and remorse." Scales v. State, 64 Wis. 2d 485, 496, 219 N.W.2d 286 (1974) (discussing the right to silence at sentencing in concluding that the sentencing court may not penalize the defendant for exercising this right).

Unlike the right against self-incrimination, the right to allocution is not a constitutional right. Neither the federal nor state constitution specifically addresses allocution, and neither the United States Supreme Court nor the Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that due process includes a constitutional right to allocution.

In fact, "the United States Supreme Court has held there is no federal constitutional right to allocution." State v. Lindsey, 203 Wis. 2d 423, 447, 554 N.W.2d 215 (Ct. App. 1996) (citing Hill v. United States, 368 U.S. 424, 428 (1962)); see also Nicholas, 49 Wis. 2d at 682–83; State v. Turner, 200 Wis. 2d 168, 178 n.6, 546 N.W.2d 880 (Ct. App. 1996). In Hill, the Supreme Court concluded that the failure of a trial court to ask a defendant represented by counsel whether he has anything to say before sentence was "neither jurisdictional nor constitutional" error. Hill, 368 U.S. at 428. Such error, the Court explained, does not implicate due process; "[i]t is not a fundamental defect which inherently results in a complete

 $^7$  The Wisconsin Supreme Court construes the right to silence under article I, section 8, to be coterminous with the same right under the Fifth Amendment. *State v. Stevens*, 2012 WI 97, ¶ 40, 343 Wis. 2d 157, 822 N.W.2d 79.

miscarriage of justice, nor an omission inconsistent with the rudimentary demands of fair procedure." *Id*.

Likewise, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has never held that there is a right to allocution under the state constitution, as a majority of the court indicated in *Greve*. There, a threejustice plurality said that it would hold that there is no due process right to allocution under the Wisconsin Constitution. Greve, 272 Wis. 2d 444, ¶¶ 29–34 (Roggensack, J., plurality opinion as to  $\P\P$  29-34). The plurality also said that conclusory language in two earlier cases, Bruneau and Borrell, referring to a "due process" right to allocution was dicta that it would disavow. 8 A fourth justice, Justice Crooks, also treated the Bruneau and Borrell language as dicta, indicating that the court had never resolved the issue of whether the state constitution guarantees the right to allocution. Greve, 272 Wis. 2d 444, ¶ 42 (Crooks, J. concurring). But Justice Crooks said that he "would wait" to decide this issue because, in his view, it was not necessary to resolve the dispute in the *Greve* case. *Id*.

Thus, Wisconsin defendants have no recognized constitutional right to allocution under the state or federal constitution. They have a statutory right to allocution under Wis. Stat. § 972.14(2), and the exercise of this right necessarily waives the right to silence and against self-incrimination under the state and federal constitutions.

<sup>8</sup> See Bruneau v. State, 77 Wis. 2d 166, 174–75 n.2, 252 N.W.2d 347 (1977); State v. Borrell, 167 Wis. 2d 749, 772, 482 N.W.2d 883 (1992). Bruneau cited two federal cases applying the federal allocution statute to support its unexplained assertion of a due process right to allocution. Borrell merely relied on Bruneau.

## C. Rejholec's allocution statements were voluntary and thus may be introduced at trial, consistent with *Greve* and applicable legal principles.

No Wisconsin court has squarely addressed whether, following the defendant's withdrawal of a plea after sentencing, a defendant's allocution statements may be introduced in a future proceeding. But the Wisconsin Supreme Court's decision in *Greve* provides useful guidance. There, the court held that a similar category of voluntary statements presented at sentencing—the defendant's admissions contained in a defense-prepared sentencing memorandum—may be introduced in a future proceeding. Greve, 272 Wis. 2d 444, ¶¶ 1–2.

The court in *Greve* distinguished a defendant's admissions made in a private, defense-prepared from memorandum those made in ล court-ordered presentence investigation report (PSI). The court had held in State v. Crowell, 149 Wis. 2d 859, 861, 867–69, 440 N.W.2d 352 (1989), that, when a defendant withdraws his plea after sentencing, his statements to the author of a court-ordered PSI may not be introduced at trial, pursuant to the PSI statute, Wis. Stat. § 972.15. Allowing a defendant's admissions to the PSI author to be used in later proceedings would discourage a defendant's cooperation in a court-ordered sentencing process. Crowell, 149 Wis. 2d at 869.

But in *Greve*, the court concluded that its holding in *Crowell* did not bar admission of statements made in a private defense memorandum. "*Crowell*," the court explained, "is a statutory interpretation case and cannot be expanded to a defendant's sentencing memorandum not described in the statute." *Greve*, 272 Wis. 2d 444, ¶ 21. The court also concluded that the policy considerations relevant to provisions of the PSI statute do not apply to a private, defense-prepared advocacy document. *Id.* ¶¶ 21–25.

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