Filed 06-21-2024

Page 1 of 25

FILED 06-21-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2023AP2192-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

DANIEL J. REJHOLEC,

Defendant-Respondent.

On Appeal from an Order Excluding Evidence Entered in the Sheboygan County Circuit Court, the Honorable Rebecca L. Persick, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

OLIVIA GARMAN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1105954

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 garmano@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

Page

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

Evidence of a guilty plea, later withdrawn, or a plea of no contest, or an offer to the court or prosecuting attorney to plead guilty or no contest to the crime charged or any other crime, or in civil forfeiture actions, is not admissible in any civil or

criminal proceeding against the person who made the plea or offer or one liable for the person's conduct. Evidence of statements made in court or to the prosecuting attorney in connection with any of the foregoing pleas or offers is not admissible.

Wis. Stat. § 904.10

interpretation begins Statutory with language of the statute. State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. "Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." Id. The context and structure of the statute are also important to divining statutory meaning. Id. at \P 46. "Therefore, statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." Id.

Section 904.10 is unambiguous. *Mason*, 132 Wis. 2d at 432. It prohibits the use of statements made by a defendant "in connection with" a plea of no contest. Wis. Stat. § 904.10. "Connection" is defined as a "causal or logical relation or sequence." *Connection*, Merriam-Webster.com

In one of the few cases interpreting Wis. Stat. § 904.10, the court of appeals held that incriminating

Case 2023AP002192 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-21-2024 Page 13 of 25

statements made by a defendant at a plea hearing were not admissible at a subsequent trial. Mason, 132 Wis. 2d at 433. In *Mason*, the defendant reached a proposed plea agreement with the State. Id. at 428. During the course of the plea hearing, the defendant made incriminating statements and admitted to the charged conduct. Id. at 429. The defendant was later permitted to withdraw his plea. Id. At the subsequent trial on the charges, the defendant denied the charged conduct and made statements contrary to the incriminating statements he made at the plea hearing. Id. The trial court admitted his plea hearing statements but excluded evidence that the defendant entered a guilty plea. Id. The court of appeals reversed, holding that, even though the defendant's plea hearing statements were voluntary, § 904.10 "clearly and unambiguously indicates the intent to prohibit for any purpose the use of statements made in connection with a guilty plea, later withdrawn, at a subsequent trial." Id. at 433.

Here, the statements made by Mr. Rejholec at sentencing were clearly in court in connection with his no contest plea that was later withdrawn and Wis. Stat. § 904.10 plainly prohibits their admission at a subsequent trial. Mr. Rejholec, much like the defendant in *Mason*, only made the incriminating statements to the court *because* of his plea. The plea and sentencing were inherently connected because the

sentencing proceedings flowed automatically from Mr. Rejholec's no-contest plea.²

The State appears to argue that this Court should interpret "in connection with" in Wis. Stat. § 904.10 the same as it does in the context of sentence credit. State's Br. at 21 n. 9. Though statutes using similar terms may be construed similarly, State v. Rector, 2023 WI 41, ¶ 35, 407 Wis. 2d 321, 990 N.W.2d 213, doing so makes little sense here, where the principles of sentence credit have nothing helpful to interpreting the rules offer in of evidence. Additionally, while courts are to interpret statutes in context, a sentencing-related statute provides no context for a rule of evidence. Moreover, "in connection with" is not a "technical or specially defined" phrase; therefore, it should be given its ordinary meaning.

Even if the court were to adopt the meaning of "in connection with" proposed by the State, it is clear that Mr. Rejholec's statements were in connection with the plea; his allocution statements were a direct result of his plea. The trial court also considered the

While the plea hearing was separate from the sentencing hearing in this case, this is not always true. Many sentencing hearings occur immediately after the court accepts the defendant's plea. In a case wherein the court proceeds to sentencing after accepting the defendant's plea in the same hearing, it makes no sense to exclude those statements made during the plea portion of the hearing but to admit those statements made during the sentencing portion of the hearing. Both statements are made "in connection with" the plea and must be excluded.

Case 2023AP002192

connection between Mr. Rejholec's plea and allocution statement and found the allocution to be a result of the illegally obtained statement, and thus the no contest plea. (See 234:9).³

> В. Even if an allocution statement is not found to be "in connection with" a laterwithdrawn plea, it is still evidence of the plea, and thus inadmissible for any purpose at a subsequent trial.

Statements made during allocution are evidence of a no contest plea. Section 904.10 is clear that "[elvidence of a . . . plea of no contest . . . is not admissible in any civil or criminal proceeding against the person who made the plea. . . . "Wis. Stat. § 904.10. Evidence generally consists of the testimony of witnesses, exhibits received by the court, and any stipulated or judicially noticed facts. See WI JI-CRIMINAL 103: EVIDENCE DEFINED. Evidence does not need to directly prove a fact. See WI JI-CRIMINAL 170: CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE. "Circumstantial evidence is evidence from which a jury may logically find other facts according to common knowledge and experience." Id.

³ Factual findings are provided deference. *Royster-Clark*, Inc. v. Olsen's Mill, Inc., 2006 WI 46, ¶ 11, 290 Wis. 2d 264, 714 N.W.2d 530. Factual findings are upheld unless clearly erroneous. Id. The trial court's factual finding that Mr. Rejholec's allocution statement was "in connection with" his no contest plea is not clearly erroneous.

Case 2023AP002192 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-21-2024 Page 16 of 25

While Mr. Rejholec's allocution statement may not be *direct* evidence of his no contest plea, it is circumstantial evidence of a plea other than not guilty. Allocution only occurs after conviction. *See* Wis. Stat. § 972.14(2). Introduction of evidence of a statement made by Mr. Rejholec—a statement that can only be made after a conviction—is circumstantial evidence that Mr. Rejholec has been convicted of the offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 904.10. *See* WI JI-CRIMINAL 170 ("Circumstantial evidence is not necessarily better or worse than direct evidence. Either type of evidence may prove a fact.").

C. The State's preferred interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 904.10 must be rejected as it leads to unconstitutional results.

Holding that Wis. Stat. § 904.10 prohibits only the introduction of direct evidence that Mr. Rejholec pled no contest, but not his allocution statement, as the State suggests, violates his constitutional right to present a complete defense. "The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to preserve a statute and to find it constitutional if it is at all possible to do so." Redevelopment Authority of City of Milwaukee v. Uptown Arts and Educ. Inc., 229 Wis. 2d 458, 463, 599 N.W.2d 655 (Ct. App. 1999).

"Whether rooted directly in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, or in the Compulsory Process or Confrontation clauses of the Sixth Amendment, the Constitution guarantees criminal defendants a meaningful opportunity to

present a complete defense." Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 690 (1986) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). While the right to present a defense may be impacted by the rules of evidence, "arbitrary" rules that do not serve legitimate interests are unconstitutional. See Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324 (2006). Rules of evidence that prohibit the defendant from introducing evidence about circumstances in which a confession was made violate the defendant's right to present a complete defense. Crane, 476 U.S. at 691; see also Lego v. Twomey, 404 U.S. 477, 485-86 (1972). While the voluntariness of a statement is a threshold admissibility matter for the court to decide, the defendant retains "the traditional prerogative to challenge the confession's reliability during the course of the trial." Crane, 476 U.S. at 688.

In Crane, the defendant was arrested and made a series of voluntary admissions. Id. at 684. The defendant moved to suppress his statements and the trial court concluded that the statements were voluntary and admissible. Id. at 685. The prosecution then moved, pursuant to rules of evidence that prohibited admission of evidence as voluntariness of a confession once the court ruled on the voluntariness, to prohibit the introduction of any evidence about the circumstances of the defendant's incriminating statements. Id. The Supreme Court held that a state rule of evidence excluding evidence that goes to the credibility or reliability of a confession violated the defendant's right to present a complete defense. Id. at 691. In so holding, the Court noted that "stripped of the power to describe to the jury the Case 2023AP002192 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-21-2024 Page 18 of 25

circumstances that prompted his confession, the defendant is effectively disabled from answering the one question every rational juror needs answered: If the defendant is innocent, why did he previously admit his guilt?" *Id.* at 689.

Allowing the State to introduce Mr. Rejholec's allocution statement, but barring any evidence of the circumstances surrounding that statement violates Mr. Rejholec's right to present a complete defense, but if the would be the effect State's interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 904.10 is adopted. Without the power to describe to the jury the circumstances that prompted his statement (e.g., the officer's violation of Mr. Rejholec's Miranda rights, the trial court's denial of his motion to suppress the illegally obtained interrogation statement, and advice from his attorney), he is effectively disabled from answering the one question that every rational juror needs answered: If he is innocent, why did he make incriminating statements and apologize to the court? Much as the circumstances surrounding the confession in *Crane* were necessary to presenting the full picture to the jury, so too are the circumstances surrounding Mr. Rejholec's allocution statement necessary to present the full picture.

Section 904.10, however, expressly prohibits admission of evidence that Mr. Rejholec entered a no contest plea "for any purpose." *See Mason*, 132 Wis. 2d at 433. Even if Mr. Rejholec were able to present the circumstances surrounding the incriminating statements to the jury, that would not cure the

constitutional issue. This Court previously held that the interrogating officer violated Mr. Rejholec's *Miranda* rights and any statements he made after the *Miranda* violation must be suppressed. *Rejholec*, 2021 WI App at ¶ 35. Allowing Mr. Rejholec to present the context to his allocution statement opens the door to presenting the whole of his interrogation—allowing the State to benefit from the violation of Mr. Rejholec's Fifth Amendment rights.

Because the State's proposed interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 904.10 would result in the unconstitutional deprivation of Mr. Rejholec's right to present a complete defense, this Court should take pains to avoid this result. See Redevelopment Authority of City of Milwaukee, 229 Wis. 2d at 463.

D. The State's reliance on *State v. Greve* is misplaced.

The State relies primarily on *State v. Greve*, 2004 WI 69, 272 Wis. 2d 444, 681 N.W.2d 479, to support its claim that voluntary statements made by a defendant at sentencing after entering a no contest plea are admissible at a subsequent trial after the defendant has withdrawn his plea. This reliance is misplaced.

In *Greve*, the defendant made incriminating statements to a clinical social worker hired by the defense to prepare a sentencing memorandum. *Greve*, 2004 WI 69, at \P 3. Greve's conviction, however, was later overturned by the court of appeals. *Id.* at \P 4. Greve argued that the incriminating comments in the

defense-prepared sentencing memorandum were inadmissible at the subsequent trial because Wis. Stat. § $972.15(4)^4$ also applied to the sentencing memorandum. Id. at ¶ 13. Greve argued his paid-for sentencing memorandum was akin to the court-ordered and Department of Corrections-prepared Presentence Investigations (PSIs). Id. Importantly, Greve did not make any argument about the applicability of Wis. Stat. § 904.10 to his sentencing memorandum. Brief of Defendant-Respondent at e, Greve, 2004 WI 69.

Ultimately, the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Greve* held that a defense-prepared sentencing memorandum was not barred from admission in a subsequent trial as Wis. Stat. § 972.15 only applied to court-ordered PSIs. *Greve*, 2004 WI 69, at ¶ 25. The *Greve* court did not consider the applicability of Wis. Stat. § 904.10. *Id.* at ¶ 66 (Prosser, J., dissenting). Justice Prosser, writing for the dissent, noted that "the lead opinion dodges the obvious question whether a statement made by a defendant *inside* the courtroom at a sentencing hearing is protected from use in a new trial." *Id.*

Greve does not function to allow the State to introduce statements otherwise excluded by Wis. Stat. § 904.10.

⁴ Wis. Stat. § 972.15(4) provides that: "Except provided in sub. (4m), (4r), (5), or (6), after sentencing the presentence investigation report shall be confidential and shall not be made available to any person except upon specific authorization of the court."

II. Due process considerations should bar the use of an allocution statement made after a guilty or no contest plea that is later withdrawn in a subsequent trial.

A defendant who enters a plea and later is allowed to withdraw that plea should have the expectation that the plea will not be used against him in a subsequent trial. This is clearly the policy underlying Wis. Stat. § 904.10. This policy of ensuring that proposed pleas that do not materialize or pleas that are withdrawn cannot be used against the defendant in a subsequent proceeding is present not just in the Rules of Evidence, but also explicitly in the rules of criminal procedure. See Wis. Stat. § 971.08(3) ("Any plea of guilty which is not accepted by the court or which is subsequently permitted to be withdrawn shall not be used against the defendant in a subsequent action.").

The purpose of plea withdrawal, as noted by the trial court, is to return the parties to the position they were in prior to the entry of the plea. See State v. Briggs, 218 Wis. 2d 61, 73-74, 579 N.W.2d 783 (Ct. App. 1998). While plea bargaining has been analogized to contract law, contract law is not always dispositive as plea bargaining also implicates a defendant's due process rights. State v. Toliver, 187 Wis. 2d 346, 355, 523 N.W.2d 113 (Ct. App. 1994). Fundamental to the doctrine of due process is a sense of "decency and fairness." State v. Rivest, 106 Wis. 2d 406, 414, 316 N.W.2d 395 (Ct. App. 1982) (citing Breithaupt v.

Abram, 352 U.S. 432, 436 (1957); Austin v. State, 49 Wis. 2d 727, 736, 183 N.W.2d 56 (1971)).

A plea is generally only allowed to be withdrawn after the defendant can show that plea withdrawal is necessary to correct a "manifest injustice." *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 311, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). If a plea occurs after the trial court erroneously rules on a motion to admit or suppress evidence, that plea may be withdrawn if there is a reasonable probability that the trial court's decision contributed to the conviction. *State v. Armstrong*, 223 Wis. 2d 331, 372, 588 N.W.2d 606 (1999). "Only if the error contributed to the conviction must a reversal" and plea withdrawal be the result. *State v. Semrau*, 2000 WI App 54, ¶ 21, 233 Wis. 2d 508, 608 N.W.2d 376.

In the present case, after holding that portion of Rejholec's interrogation statement must be suppressed, this Court remanded the case for the trial court to consider whether the erroneous admission of the interrogation contributed to the conviction. State v. Rejholec, 2021 WI App 45, ¶ 35 n. 14. Upon a filing of a motion to withdraw Mr. Rejholec's plea, the State conceded that it could not meet the harmless error standard. (256:2). The trial court subsequently allowed Mr. Rejholec to withdraw his plea. (256:3). Mr. Rejholec only entered his plea and made his allocution statement because of the trial court's erroneous ruling on his motion to suppress the interrogation. It runs contrary to notions of decency and fairness that the State should now benefit from the trial court's erroneous decision.

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